## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

# Case Number: 2007-CA-02023

# DANNY HOLLAND

vs.

# RENASANT BANK, f/k/a THE PEOPLES BANK & TRUST COMPANY

APPELLEE

APPELLANT

Appeal from the Circuit Court for the Second Judicial District of Panola County, Civil Case No. CV1998-177BP2 (Hon. L. Joseph L. Lee, Special Circuit Judge)

# **BRIEF OF DANNY HOLLAND, PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT**

**ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED** 

ROBERT Q. WHITWELL (MS

ATTORNEY FOR DANNY HOLLAND, APPELLANT

Farese, Farese & Farese, P.A. 1308 North Lamar Boulevard, Ste. 8 Oxford, Mississippi 38655 Telephone: 662-281-5884 Facsimile: 662-232-8074

# **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

## I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The parties to this action are Danny Holland, the Plaintiff below and the Appellant herein, and Renasant Bank (f/k/a The Peoples Bank & Trust Company), the Defendant below and the Appellee herein. Danny Holland may hereinafter be referred to simply as "Holland," while Renasant Bank may hereinafter be referred to simply as "the Bank."

Danny Holland would provide the following statement of issues:

- ISSUE I: The trial court erred in granting the Bank's motion for summary judgment because genuine issues of material fact relating to the Bank's negligence, bad faith, and breach of its fiduciary duty are present in this case and such fact issues may only be resolved by a jury.
- ISSUE II: The trial judge erred in ruling that Danny Holland had waived his claims (and/or ratified the Bank's actions) because at least some of Holland's claims against the Bank fall outside of the work-out agreement (*i.e.*, the renewal note); therefore, the waiver/ratification rule cannot be applied to those claims.
- ISSUE III: The successor trial judge erred in granting the Bank's motion for reconsideration of the Bank's motion for summary judgment which had formerly been denied earlier in the proceedings by an earlier order from the previous trial judge.
- ISSUE IV: The Bank waived its claims made in its motion for reconsideration; therefore, the motion should have been denied.
- ISSUE V: The trial court erred in granting the Bank's motion for summary judgment because other genuine issues of material fact relating to the Bank's actions are present in this case and such fact issues may only be resolved by a jury.

\* \* \* \* \* \*

-1-

#### **II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### A. NATURE OF THE CASE AND COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

Danny Holland, as Plaintiff, commenced this action by filing his complaint in the Circuit Court for the Second Judicial District of Panola County on November 20, 1998, and naming The Peoples Bank & Trust Company of Tupelo, Mississippi as the sole and only defendant.<sup>2</sup> Holland's complaint asserts various claims for negligence, negligent misrepresentations, fraudulent misrepresentations, breach of fiduciary duties, and breach of implied covenants of good faith and fair dealing. It seeks a judgment against the Bank for \$5,000,000.00 in compensatory damages, as well as other damages. [CP 1-184; RE 56-239] The Bank filed its answer on December 18, 1998. [CP 185-94; RE 240-49] Holland amended his complaint on July 7, 1999. [CP 231-32; RE 250-51] The Bank answered the amended complaint on July 12, 1992. [CP 233-35; RE 252-55]

Notably, the Bank affirmatively raised the defense of waiver and/or ratification. [CP 188-89; RE 243-44]

After extensive discovery was conducted, the Bank filed a motion for summary judgment on June 13, 2005, [CP 237-39; RE 256-58] and Holland filed a written response to the Bank's motion.<sup>3</sup> [CP 448-53; RE 272-77] The Mississippi Supreme Court appointed Senior Status Judge Robert Kenneth Coleman to preside over the civil action.<sup>4</sup> [CP 404; RE 406] Judge Coleman conducted a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The Peoples Bank & Trust Company now operates under the name "Renasant Bank."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The great bulk of the record in this civil action (the Clerk's Papers constitute 1,024 pages) is comprised of exhibits (documents, excerpts from depositions, *etc.*) submitted by both parties relative to the Bank's summary judgment motion.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Andrew C. Baker, Ann H. Lamar, and Robert P. Chamberlin, Circuit Court Judges for the Seventeenth (17<sup>th</sup>) Circuit Court District, signed a joint *Order of Recusal* on July 11, 2005. [CP 402-03; RE 404-05]

hearing on the Bank's summary judgment motion on December 13, 2005; [RE 10-55] and by order dated February 24, 2006, Judge Coleman denied the Bank's motion. [CP 964; RE 9]

After its motion for summary judgment was denied by Judge Coleman, the Bank sought an interlocutory appeal, but this Court denied that appeal on March 29, 2006.<sup>5</sup> [CP 965; RE 407] Subsequently, Judge Coleman removed himself from the case due to personal reasons, and (on January 8, 2007) L. Joseph Lee, a Presiding Judge of the Mississippi Court of Appeals, was appointed to preside over the case. [CP 969; RE 410]

Following the appointment of Judge Lee, the Bank (on July 19, 2007) filed the *Defendant's Motion for Reconsideration of Order Denying Summary Judgment*. [CP 978-86; RE 419-27] Judge Lee (on October 9, 2007) entered an order granting the Bank's motion for summary judgment. [CP 1013-16; RE 5-8] Danny Holland then filed his *Notice of Appeal* (on November 8, 2007). [CP 1021-22; RE 428-29]

#### \* \* \*

#### **B. DISPOSITION IN THE COURT BELOW**

The Bank's motion for summary judgment was granted on October 9, 2007. [CP 1013-16: RE 5-8]

The Bank filed its Motion for Summary Judgment, or Alternatively, for Partial Summary Judgment on June 13, 2005 [CP 237-39: RE 256-58], in which it made the following allegations:

- 1. That Danny Holland's negligence claims fail as a matter of law.
- 2. That Danny Holland's allegations of oral promises by the Bank fail as a matter of law because:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The petition for interlocutory appeal was docketed as Case Number 2006-M-00436 before the Supreme Court of Mississippi.

- a. They are barred by the parol evidence rule;
- b. Holland failed to establish the material terms of any oral contract;
- c. Lack of consideration; and,
- d. Holland's claims are based on promises made by a loan officer whom Holland knew lacked apparent or actual authority.
- 3. That Danny Holland's claims against the Bank are barred by the doctrines of ratification and waiver.
- 4. That Danny Holland did not establish that any misconduct by the Bank caused him any damages.

After the Bank filed its summary judgment motion, both parties submitted briefs, exhibits, and deposition excerpts in support of their relative positions.<sup>6</sup> Judge Coleman heard oral argument on the motion (on December 13, 2005) [RE 10-55], and thereafter (on March 3, 2006) entered his

order denying the Bank's motion. [CP 964; RE 9]

Following the appointment of Judge Lee to hear the case, the Bank (on July 19, 2007) filed

the Defendant's Motion for Reconsideration of Order Denying Summary Judgment [CP 978-986;

RE 419-27], attaching as an exhibit to it a Statement of Trial Court in Support of Interlocutory

Appeal Pursuant to M.R.A.P. 5(b) which had been signed by Judge Coleman on March 28, 2006.

[CP 983-986; RE 424-27] That statement contains this language:

Although Renasant raised a number of arguments in its Motion for Summary Judgment, in response to Holland's allegations, at least two (2) arguments asserted by Renasant are legal, rather than factual, in nature. Specifically, Renasant contends that Holland's claims are barred by the doctrines of waiver/ratification, and/or that Holland has failed to demonstrate any causal connection between Renasant's alleged actions and/or omissions and Holland's alleged damages. If Renasant is correct, either argument would be dispositive of all claims in this cause.

[CP 984; RE 425]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Again, the great bulk of the record in this civil action (the Clerk's Papers constitute 1,024 pages) is comprised of exhibits (documents, excerpts from depositions, etc.) submitted by both parties relative to the Bank's summary judgment motion.

On October 9, 2007, Judge Lee entered an order granting the Bank's motion for summary judgment. [CP 1013-16; RE 5-8] Judge Lee stated that Holland had brought "suit against the Bank alleging negligence, fraudulent misrepresentation and breach of a fiduciary relationship." [CP 1013; RE 5] Judge Lee held that:

Holland accuses the bank of negligent misrepresentation in regards to [the Bank's] alleged promise to lend him money. A promise to lend money is not a past or present existing fact and "the promise of future conduct is, as a matter of law, not such a representation as will support recovery under a theory of negligent misrepresentation." [Citations omitted.] Thus, Holland's claim of negligent misrepresentation fails.

[CP 1014-15; RE 6-7]

Judge Lee's order also stated that Holland had alleged the Bank had "breached an oral promise to lend Holland money beyond the terms of the contract," that "Holland's claim fails because written contracts cannot be varied by prior oral agreements," and that "[a]ny parole [*sic*] evidence Holland would submit to vary the written contract terms is inadmissible." [CP 1015; RE

7]

Judge Lee's order appears to adopt an argument advanced by the Bank that "work-out agreements and amendments to his promissory notes" which were executed by Holland constitute a waiver of any claims Holland may have against the Bank. [CP 1015; RE 7] Finally, Judge Lee's order states that "throughout the entirety of this litigation, Holland has failed to produce any documentation to support" his claim that the Bank's "refusal to extend the loan ultimately resulted in losses to his cotton and farming business." [CP 1015; RE 7]

Following entry of Judge Lee's order (entered on October 9, 2007), Holland filed his Notice of Appeal on November 8, 2007. [CP 1021-22; RE 428-29]

\* \* \* \* \* \*

### C. STATEMENT OF FACTS RELEVANT TO THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Danny Holland sold a parcel of real property located in Lafayette County on May 9, 1996; the transaction was closed at the office of attorney Kay Cobb in Oxford and the net proceeds from this sale totaled \$237,558.87.<sup>7</sup> [CP 472-578; RE 295, 350] Because the sale of this property was intended to be a part of a "deferred tax free exchange" under §1031(a)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, William H. McKenzie, III, a long, sitting Municipal Court Judge and experienced, competent, real estate attorney in Batesville, Mississippi, acting according to the Bank's and Holland's instructions and agreement, prepared escrow and exchange documents pursuant to which the Bank would act as the escrow agent and which provided, in pertinent part, as follows:

5.

In the event Holland has not located replacement property or is unable to finalize the purchase of replacement property within the 45 day identification period or the 180 day tax return due date ... then the Escrow Agent shall pay any escrowed funds then remaining to Holland whereupon this escrow agreement shall terminate.

[CP 570-76; RE 342-48] (Emphasis added)

After closing the sale, Kay Cobb wrote a letter (dated May 9, 1996) addressed to William E.

Jeffreys, III, at the Bank, which stated, in pertinent part, as follows:

Enclosed you will find my trust account check #1401 in the amount of \$237,558.87 which represents the entire net proceeds from the sale of his Lafayette County farm (425 acres, more or less) by Danny Holland to my clients .... It is my understanding that this sum will go into a special escrow account there at your bank, to be applied toward the purchase of certain replacement property under a 1031 tax deferred exchange.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>The Lafayette County property is known as the "Yocona Bottom" farm or property. The replacement property Holland intended to be included in the \$1031 exchange is known as the "Long Branch" farm or property, and Holland had executed a purchase contract and deposited \$30,000.00 earnest money for Long Branch. When property held for productive use in a trade or business, or for investment, is exchanged for property of like kind that is also to be held either for productive use in a trade or business, or for investment, the taxes or credits normally associated with any gain or loss can be deferred under \$1031(a)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code (*i.e.*, 26 U.S.C. \$1031). See, *e.g.*, *Callicutt v. Professional Services of Potts Camp, Inc.*, 974 So.2d 216 (Miss. 2007).

Also enclosed is a Release of Deeds of Trust which I have prepared for you to use to release all encumbrances which Peoples Bank has against this property.....

[CP 570; RE 342]

Kay Cobb testified in a sworn deposition that although her involvement was limited to closing the Yocona Bottom sale for her clients, her "understanding of the big picture" was that in order to complete the §1031 exchange "they would need to escrow (the sale proceeds) until they got the replacement property." [CP 564, 802; RE 339, 397] Cobb's trust account check (check #1401, in the amount of \$237,558.87) which was dated May 9, 1996, and which was delivered to the Bank on that day. However, it was not deposited by the Bank until May 22, 1996. [CP 565, 802, 578; RE 340, 397, 350] Meanwhile, on May 10, 1996, the Bank cancelled the deeds of trust it had recently taken on Holland's Yocona Bottom property. [CP 565, 802, 568-69; RE 340, 397]

It is extremely significant to note that when Holland sold his Yocona Bottom property to Kay Cobb's clients, the Bank immediately cancelled the deeds of trust it held on the property even though the Bank did nothing with Cobb's \$237,000.00 check for almost two weeks!<sup>8</sup> Again, the \$237,000.00 represented Holland's proceeds from the sale of the Lafayette County property, and Holland intended to avoid capital gains taxes on this money; this is the very reason Cobb delivered the check to the Bank so the money could be escrowed until Holland closed on the Long Branch farm he had located for the §1031 exchange. Thus, this \$237,000.00 was Danny Holland's money – representing his equity from the Yocona Bottom sale, and if the §1031 exchange was not completed, Holland would be taxed on the capital gain. It is obvious that the Bank did not consider the \$237,000.00 to be its money. Otherwise, it would have deposited the check before releasing its

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>In order to simply the language of this brief, throughout this brief (unless otherwise indicated) the figure of \$237,000.00 will be used to refer to the actual amount of \$237,558.87, which was the net proceeds from the sale of Holland's Yocona Bottom County property.

deeds of trust on May 10, 1996. Instead, the Bank did not deposit the check into any account for almost two weeks (*i.e.*, from May 9, 1996, until May 22, 1996).

In sworn deposition testimony, Corky Springfield, an executive vice-president and central region manager for the Bank, denied having knowledge of any escrow agreement relating to the proceeds from the sale of Holland's Lafayette County property [CP 810; RE 398], when in truth, the escrow/exchange documents were sitting in the Bank's vault along with Holland's \$237,000.00 check. Springfield admitted that the Bank held that check from Kay Cobb in the Bank's vault for thirteen (13) days prior to depositing it. [CP 811; RE 399] When the Bank finally did deposit the check, Springfield testified that the \$237,000.00 was applied to one of Holland's notes (note number 8062) held by the Bank. [CP 811; RE 399] Springfield testified that he 'believed' all of Holland's holdings were "cross-collateralized" and stated "that's how it should have been done." [CP 812; RE 400] Even though Holland was present at the Bank on May 23, 1996, and met face-to-face with Springfield, Springfield testified that he did not advise or notify Holland that the \$237,000.00 had not been escrowed but had, in fact, been applied to Holland's loans (which occurred on May 22, 1996). [CP 813; RE 401] Springfield also testified that neither he nor anyone else at the Bank made any effort to advise or notify Holland that the Bank was not holding the \$237,000.00 in trust despite the earlier representations to Holland that it was doing so. [CP 813; RE 401]

The reasonable inference which may be drawn from Springfield's testimony reinforces the belief by all (at least prior to its conversion by the Bank) that the \$237,000.00 net proceeds from the sale of the Yocona Bottom property was Danny Holland's money and not that of the Bank. Had the Bank intended this money to represent its interest in the Lafayette County property, it would have deposited the \$237,000.00 check before releasing the deeds of trust, as opposed to immediately releasing the deeds of trust on the Lafayette County property and then holding the check for almost

two full weeks before ultimately applying the money to one of Holland's other loans. In doing that, the Bank misappropriated cash which belonged to Holland, and at a time and under circumstances when Holland had the right to decide where and how the money would be deposited and applied. By analogy, the Bank's action (*i.e.*, applying the money to one of Holland's notes) was effectively the same thing as if Holland had deposited the \$237,000.00 into his personal checking account and the Bank had then transferred the money from Holland's checking account to apply the money to one of Holland's notes without Holland's knowledge or approval of the transfer. When the Bank took the \$237,000.00 away from Holland, none of Holland's notes were due or in default; therefore, *the bank had no right of set-off!* 

Judge Lee's statement that Holland "eventually defaulted" on his loans to the Bank is misleading on this issue. [CP 1013; RE 5] When the Bank misappropriated Holland's funds from escrow on May 22, 1996, Holland's loans were less than thirty (30) days old and were neither due nor in default. In granting summary judgment, Judge Lee ignored that the Bank's misappropriation of the \$237,000.00 was the initiating event of the cascading failure of Holland's cotton and farming businesses which ultimately devastated Holland's financial position. Accordingly, it was the Bank's misconduct that put Holland in default.

Danny Holland's ill-fated relationship with the Bank began early in 1996 when Holland, who was engaged in livestock and crop farming operations, went to the People's Bank and Trust Company branch in Coffeeville and obtained a cattle loan through William Jeffreys, the vice-president in charge of the Coffeeville branch.<sup>9</sup> [CP 378; RE 264] Upon making the cattle loan, Jeffreys, on behalf of the Bank, solicited all of Holland's banking business; Holland's business

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>The Coffeeville branch of The Peoples Bank and Trust was originally a branch of the Bank of Water Valley; the Bank of Water Valley subsequently merged with The Peoples Bank and Trust. [CP 377].

interests, in addition to the livestock and crop farming operations, included Holland's cotton brokerage business, Danny R. Holland & Company. [CP 512-14; RE 305-07]

In February 1996 Holland decided to transfer all of his banking business to the Bank, and he represented to the Bank assets valued at \$2,261.910.00, debt in the amount of \$1,010,235.00, and a positive net worth of \$1,251,675.00. [CP 497; RE 299] Holland stated he needed \$238,926.00 to pay off certain debts, plus an operating line of credit ("LOC") of \$500,000.00, for a total of \$738,926.00. [CP 497; RE 299] This would have left Holland with a positive net worth of \$512,749.00. Holland submitted financial information to the Bank, including land, equipment, and livestock appraisals, profit and loss statements for Holland's cotton company, and prior years' tax returns. Those tax returns reflected that Holland earned approximately \$450,000.00 per year from the cotton business, and the profit and loss statements revealed \$250,000.00 available for margin calls. Copies of the financial documentation Holland submitted to the Bank are attached to Holland's complaint. [CP 6-184; RE 56-239]

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