IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NUMBER 2007-CA-02023

DANNY HOLLAND

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

v.

RENASANT BANK f/k/a THE PEOPLES BANK & TRUST COMPANY

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record for Appellee, Renasant Bank f/k/a The Peoples Bank & Trust Company, certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Danny R. Holland, Plaintiff and Appellant;

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

timeframe or manner now alleged.³⁶ Even if a fiduciary duty could be found, it could not be found to create an obligation beyond that which was contractually proposed. Had the escrow agreement been agreed to and signed, it simply did not provide for the use of such funds to pay margin calls as now alleged by Holland, but rather limited the use of such funds to purchase real estate or otherwise to be held for a length of time beyond the period within which Holland was allegedly requesting the funds to be used otherwise.

A commercial loan transaction does not create a presumption of a fiduciary relationship between a lender and borrower. <u>AmSouth Bank v. Gupta</u>, 838 So. 2d 205, 216 (Miss. 2002). A borrower must prove that a fiduciary relationship exists, and must do so by clear and convincing evidence. <u>AmSouth</u>, 838 So. 2d at 216. If a borrower fails to prove by clear and convincing evidence that the loan transaction has created a fiduciary relationship, the borrower and lender only share a standard business relationship. <u>The Peoples Bank & Trust Co. v. Cermack</u>, 658 So. 2d 1352, 1358 (Miss. 1995). In such a standard business relationship, a lender simply does not owe a borrower any fiduciary duty. <u>Cermack</u>, 658 So. 2d at 1359. This Court has stated that "fiduciary relationship is a very broad term embracing both technical fiduciary relations and those informal relations which exist wherever one person trusts in or relies upon another." <u>Lowery v. Guaranty Bank & Trust Co.</u>, 592 So. 2d 79, 83 (Miss. 1991). However, trust alone is not sufficient to establish a fiduciary responsibility. Three requirements must be found in order for a fiduciary relationship to exist in a commercial setting. A fiduciary relationship may only arise where:

³⁶ (R.V. 5 pp. 620-25; RE 428-33). All facts and circumstances for which Holland attempts to base his fiduciary duty claim occurred and were known to him prior to October 1996, at which time he voluntarily entered into the workout agreements and loan amendments and accepted the benefit of the sale proceeds which he now alleges were wrongfully applied. As such, his claims of breach of fiduciary duty, even if assumed to exist, would likewise be barred based upon the doctrines of waiver and ratification set out above. See, Turner, 481 So. 2d at 848-49 (holding even a fraud claim to have been waived by the act of entering into later agreements by the doctrine of waiver and ratification).

- (1) the parties have shared goals in each other's commercial activities,
- (2) one of the parties places justifiable confidence or trust in the other party's fidelity, **and**
- (3) the trusted party exercises effective control over the other party.

<u>AmSouth</u>, 838 So. 2d at 216; <u>(citing, Cermack</u>, 658 So. 2d at 1359); <u>see also</u>, <u>Hopewell Enters.</u>, <u>Inc. v. Trustmark Nat'l Bank</u>, 680 So. 2d 812, 816-17 (Miss. 1996)(stating that "every contractual relationship does not give rise to a fiduciary relationship")<u>(citing, Carter Equip. Co.</u> <u>v. John Deere Indus. & Equip. Co.</u>, 681 F.2d 386, 389-91 (5th Cir. 1982)). All three elements set forth above must be satisfied for a fiduciary relationship to arise. <u>AmSouth</u>, 838 So. 2d at 216. These elements presume a contractual relationship between the parties. In this case the only contract related to the Lafayette County proceeds is that of a debtor-creditor, and under the terms of the executed Notes and Deeds of Trust the proceeds were to be applied to the debt, as was done and subsequently ratified by Holland. Holland can not, therefore, establish said elements.

Clearly as to the transaction by which Holland claims such fiduciary relationship arose, <u>i.e.</u> the sale or trade of the Lafayette County Property or the application of its sale proceeds to his debt, Renasant and he did not share any common goals. Clearly, Renasant was satisfied with its collateral as it existed on April 29, 1996, in making the loans in question and had no goal to acquire any additional property. This is implicit in the fact that it conditioned its acceptance of any substitution in collateral in maintaining its loan to value ratio to be the same. Thus, it was not of any consequence to Renasant whether or not such collateral was added. Holland had other goals in mind. No shared goals existed, and the record is devoid of proof of such.

Likewise, Holland can not state that he "justifiably" placed trust in Renasant to apply the sale proceeds as he saw fit. There was no meeting of the minds on this point and no contract to apply them per Holland's whims. Instead, there were several Notes and Deeds of Trust that mandated application to Holland's indebtedness. Moreover, Holland can not "justifiably" rely upon the escrow and exchange agreements, which were never executed or agreed to in any way.

42

A party can not "justifiably" rely upon an unaccepted contractual offer. Expounding on the requirement that one party justifiably place confidence in the other, this Court has held that there can be no fiduciary relationship between a lender and borrower when the lender did not offer any assurance on which the borrower could reasonably base his trust. <u>AmSouth</u>, 838 So. 2d at 217. Likewise, if a borrower can not show knowledge on the part of the lender of the proposed trust and confidence placed in it by the borrower, a fiduciary relationship can not be found to exist. <u>Hopewell</u>, 680 So. 2d at 816.

Lastly, Renasant did not exercise any control over Holland. He entered into each aspect of the proposed land swap agreement prior to and independent of Renasant. This Court has stated that even where the parties have shared goals in each other's commercial activities and one of the parties places justifiable confidence or trust in the other party's fidelity, an absence of control by the trusted party precludes finding of a fiduciary relationship. Cermack, 658 So. 2d at 1359. In that case, this Court found the control exercised by the lender bank to be insufficient to support a finding of a fiduciary relationship when the borrower did not act on the bank's recommendations. Id. Here, no such recommendations were even made. The record is void of any evidence to support said required element. The mere allegation that Renasant was purportedly to have acted as an escrow agent, alone does not satisfy the requirements of a fiduciary relationship. See, Monumental Life Ins. Co. v. Hayes-Jenkins, 403 F.3d 304, 318-19 (5th Cir. 2005)(holding escrow agreement did not impose fiduciary duty); Richardson v. New Cent. Mortg., Cause No. Civ.A. 2:03CV372PA, 2005 WL 1554026, *9 (N.D. Miss. 2005)(unreported)(citing, Hopewell, for proposition that summary judgment was mandated in favor of escrow agent relating to claim of misapplication of loan proceeds where plaintiff could not establish requisite control required for fiduciary relationship). Further, "if both parties stand on equal or nearly equal footing, there is less likelihood a fiduciary relationship exists, since

equity will not be necessary to protect a party." <u>Carter Equip., Co.</u>, 681 F.2d at 391. As such, Holland, a former banker and sophisticated borrower, could not rely upon Renasant as a fiduciary. Therefore, this arms length transaction involving only a normal debtor-creditor relationship can not constitute a fiduciary relationship. <u>Hopewell</u>, 680 So. 2d at 817.

VI. HOLLAND'S ARGUMENTS BASED UPON THE LAW OF THE CASE DOCTRINE AND AN ALLEGED WAIVER BY RENASANT ARE WITHOUT MERIT.

Holland lastly argues two propositions, each relating to the original order of Judge Coleman, which denied summary judgment summarily and without any legal findings, and the subsequent order of Judge Lee granting Renasant's motion with legal findings. Holland first argues that the original order somehow created the "law of the case," and that as such it can not later be reconsidered, and that Judge Lee's reconsideration of the same was somehow improper. Secondly, Holland argues that the passage of time, from the denial of Renasant's petition seeking permission to file an interlocutory appeal by this Court in June of 2006, until the filing of the Motion to Reconsider Summary Judgment by Renasant in July of 2007, would in and of itself constitute a waiver of Renasant's legal position.

The Plaintiff correctly cites the procedural history of this case as it relates to the existence of an order denying summary judgment, and the subsequent denial of the request to bring an interlocutory appeal. However, the record is silent as to any legal findings that would support the denial of summary judgment in this cause. In fact, the only findings of record to that end by Judge Coleman were: 1) that the Defendant's motion for summary judgment should be "overruled," without any specific legal or factual findings justifying that determination, and 2) that "at least two (2) arguments asserted by Renasant are **legal rather than factual, in nature...** . [and if] **correct, either argument would be dispositive of all claims asserted in this cause."** (R.V. 7 pp. 964; 983; RE 527, 545)(emphasis added). Said contradiction in findings was a primary basis, among others, for Renasant's Motion to Reconsider. (R.V. 7 p. 978; RE 540). These legal, rather than factual issues, were well within the province of the trial court to address and to resolve. Questions of law are always within the province of the court, regardless of when raised, and may be urged at any time.³⁷ Holland incorrectly argues that Renasant should not be allowed multiple "bites" at the proverbial summary judgment apple. However, this ignores the fact that the Rules of Civil Procedure contemplate just that.³⁸

Holland attempts to argue that Judge Lee, sitting in place of Judge Coleman, should have somehow been prohibited from reconsidering the legal issues raised on summary judgment by Renasant. Contrary to such assertion, a successor judge is not precluded from correcting errors of law of a prior judge in a case where the prior rulings were not in the nature of a final determination on the merits. <u>Mauck v. Columbus Hotel Co. et al</u>, 741 So. 2d 259, 268 (Miss. 1999). While it may be the "general rule, [that] a successor judge is precluded from correcting errors of law made by his predecessor or changing the latter's judgment or order on the merits, . . . **this rule does not apply where the order or judgment is not of a final character**." <u>Mauck</u>,

 ³⁷ <u>State Farm Auto Ins. Co. v. Davis</u>, 887 So. 2d 192, 193 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004)(citing, Cantrell v. Lusk, 73 So. 885, 886 (Miss. 1916)); <u>Brown ex rel. Ford v. J.J. Ferguson Sand & Gravel Co.</u>, 858 So. 2d 129, 131 (Miss. 2003).

³⁸ This Court is well aware of the fact that a motion under Rule 12 tests the legal sufficiency of a pleading, as a matter of law, generally at an initial stage. Subsequently, a party might choose to bring to the Court's attention matters outside of the pleadings in order to test a plaintiff's claim as a matter of law, pursuant to Rule 56. Thereafter, even if any such preceding motions have been denied, a party is allowed to request as a matter of law a directed verdict pursuant to Rule 50. See, Breland v. Gulfside Casino Partnership, 736 So. 2d 446, 448 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999) (recognizing the relationship between Rules 50 and 56). The Breland Court stated that: "the standards employed for a summary judgment and directed verdict are the same, just employed at different times during a proceeding. In fact Rule 56, in its comment, states, '[t]he directed verdict motion, which rests on the same theory as a Rule 56 motion, is made either after Plaintiff has presented his evidence at trial or after both parties have completed their evidence; it claims that there is no question of fact worthy of being sent to the jury and the moving party is entitled, as a matter of law, to have a judgment on the merits entered in his favor." Breland, 736 So. 2d at 448. Even, thereafter, errors of law may always form the basis of an appeal. If such were not true, Holland himself would not be entitled to seek redress from this Court on this appeal. Accordingly, Holland's arguments implying that the court could not have addressed these points are wholly without merit.

741 So. 2d at 268(quoting 48 C.J.S. Judges § 68, at 654 (1981)(emphasis added). Therefore, there is no prohibition for a successor judge reconsidering a denial of summary judgment due to the fact that "[a]n order denying summary judgment is neither final nor binding upon the court or successor courts." Id. at 268 (citing, Great So. Nat'l Bank v. Minter, 590 So. 2d 129, 133, 35 (Miss. 1991); Newman v. Newman, 558 So. 2d 821, 826 (Miss. 1990))(emphasis added). "Obviously, such a ruling was subject to change at the time that the case was finally submitted, even if no facts had changed." <u>Amiker v. Drugs For Less, Inc.</u>, 796 So. 2d 942, 946 (Miss. 2000). Moreover, a Court is duty bound to follow the law and apply it to the record before it, regardless of prior rulings on summary judgment. <u>Mauck</u>, 741 So. 2d at 268. This is true even where there has been an intervening denial of a petition for permission to file an interlocutory appeal. <u>Id.</u> The mere denial of the right to bring an interlocutory appeal is determinative of nothing. Likewise, such a denial does not constitute a final determination of any legal argument on the merits. <u>Id.</u> Accordingly, Judge Lee was not prohibited from considering or granting Renasant's Motion for Summary Judgment.³⁹

Holland also attempts to couch his argument under the "law of the case doctrine." He wrongfully relies upon the <u>Mauck</u> decision for this point. Said decision found the law of the case doctrine to be inapplicable on the basis that the higher court in that matter had not rendered a final opinion on the matters for which the doctrine's application was sought. <u>Mauck</u>, 741 So. 2d at 267. Accordingly, said doctrine has no application to a non-final order, such as a summary judgment order at issue here. Said doctrine is most commonly encountered "when an appellate

³⁹ Holland attempts to state that the <u>Mauck</u> decision is limited to a review of Uniform Chancery Court Rule 1.07. While certainly, the above cited portion of that decision relates to that rule, the analysis is not so limited. <u>Mauck</u>, and the principles for which it stands have been cited by this Court in subsequent matters as giving "guidance" on the issues raised herein and without reference specifically to such rule. <u>Amiker</u>, 796 So. 2d at 946. Moreover, <u>Mauck</u> itself stated that it stood for the "<u>general rule</u>" that a successor judge could reconsider a non-final decision of a predecessor. <u>Mauck</u>, 741 So. 2d at 268.

court issues a ruling and sends the case back on remand, [in that instance] the ruling is the law of the case." Southland Ent., Inc. v. Newton County, 940 So. 2d 937, 942-43 (Miss. 2006), citing, Moeller v. Am. Guarantee & Liab. Ins. Co., 812 So. 2d 953, 960 (Miss. 2002)(for proposition that on remand opinion of higher court is the "law of the case"); Continental Turpentine & Rosin Co. v. Gulf Nat'l Stores, Co., 142 So. 2d 200, 206-07 (Miss. 1962)(comparing law of the case doctrine to res judicata, but stating that its application is limited to questions of law as decided by an appellate court). The "doctrine prevents altering the earlier-determined legal principles at the time of later proceedings in the same case." Wilner v. White, 929 So. 2d 343, 346 (Miss. 2005)(emphasis added). The Wilner Court goes on to state that the doctrine "relates entirely to questions of law, and is confined in its operation to subsequent proceedings in the case. Whatever is once established as the controlling legal rule of decision, between the same parties in the same case, continues to be the law of the case, so long as there is a similarity of facts." Wilner, 929 So. 2d at 346(emphasis added). Clearly, the doctrine requires some final determination of law in an earlier proceeding to be utilized, and even then it is not without exception.⁴⁰ The mere denial of an interlocutory appeal does not constitute a final decision to determine the law of the case. Anderson v. R & D Foods, Inc., 913 So. 2d 394, 400 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005)(holding "the Supreme Court's denial of ... petition for an interlocutory appeal did not solidify the trial court's original decision as the law of the case.").⁴¹

⁴⁰ See, <u>Simpson v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.</u>, 564 So. 3d 1374, 1376-77 (Miss. 1990)(discussing the exceptions, which include a change in facts or circumstances).

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